Public Document Pack
SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

LICENSING ACT PANEL
WEBEX NUMBER – 181 737 0528
PASSWORD - Spice
THURSDAY 8 APRIL 2021 at 4pm.

ARRANGEMENTS FOR PUBLIC ACCESS TO REMOTE MEETINGS
During the Covid 19 pandemic virtual meetings are taking place.
PLEASE NOTE that any member of the press and public may listen to proceedings at
this virtual meeting via a weblink which will be publicised on the Council website at
least 24hrs before the meeting.
To view live paste this link into your browser:
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC7DDSVoAIgTnwgp0Ku8iFLQ

Members of the press and public may tweet, blog etc. during the live broadcast, as
they would be able to during a regular Committee meeting in the Council Offices.
It is important, however, that Councillors can discuss and take decisions without
disruption, so the only participants in this virtual meeting will be the Councillors
concerned and the officers advising the Committee.

Disclosing Pecuniary Interests - What Must You Do?

(a)
You must complete a declaration of your disclosable pecuniary interests, including those of
your spouse/civil partner (or someone with whom you are living as such) and send it to the
Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your election or appointment to the Council.
(b)
When you attend a meeting of the Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny Board, Committee, SubCommittee or Joint Committee etc, and a matter arises in which you have a disclosable pecuniary
interest, unless you have been granted a dispensation, you must:


Declare the interest if you have not already registered it



Not participate in any discussion or vote



Leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with



Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of
the meeting

(c)
If you are the Leader or a Cabinet Portfolio Holder you may not exercise any of your
delegated powers as a single member in relation to a matter in which you have a disclosable
pecuniary interest or take any other step except to give written notice of any unregistered interest
to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your becoming aware of the interest, or arrange for
another person or body to deal with the matter.

Disclosable Interest
Employment, office,
trade, profession or
vocation
Sponsorship

Contracts

Land
Licences
Corporate tenancies

Securities

Description
Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain by you
or your partner.
Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the Council)
made or provided within 12 months of your declaration of interests in respect of any
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election
expenses.
Any contract between you or your partner (or a firm or body corporate in which you or
your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities of which you or your partner
has a beneficial interest)) and the Council
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.
Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Council and which gives you
or your partner a right to occupy the land or receive income.
Any licence held by you or your partner (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the
area of the Council for a month or longer.
Any tenancy where (to your knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the Council; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial interest i.e. a firm or
body corporate in which you or your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities
of which you or your partner has a beneficial interest.
Any beneficial interest held by you or your partner in securities of a body where—
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the
Council; and
(b) either—
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of
the total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal
value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner has a
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that
class.
“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets
Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a
building society.

SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN
BOROUGH COUNCIL

To: Councillors B Groom, R Grinsell,
P Hogarth MBE (Chairman) and K Thomas

NICK PAGE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
Council House, Manor Square
Solihull, West Midlands. B91 3QB
Tel. 0121-704 6000
David Acton
Tel: 0121 704-6156
Email: dacton@solihull.gov.uk
Date 26 March 2021

LICENSING ACT PANEL

THURSDAY 8 APRIL 2021

AGENDA
Mayor/Chairman of the meeting to announce:
‘May I remind everyone present that this meeting will be broadcast live via the
internet.’

1.

REVIEW OF PREMISES LICENCE - SHIRLEY SPICE, 393 STRATFORD
ROAD, SHIRLEY, B90 3BW (Pages 5 - 28)
To review the premises licence of Shirley Spice, 393 Stratford Road, Shirley, B90 3BW.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1
Meeting date:

9 April 2021

Report to:

Licensing Act Sub-Committee

Subject/report
title:

REVIEW OF THE PREMISES LICENCE GRANTED IN RESPECT
OF SHIRLEY SPICE, 393 STRATFORD ROAD, SHIRLEY,
SOLIHULL, B90 3BW.

Report from:

Director of Economy & Infrastructure

Report
author/lead
contact officer:

Anne Bettison – Licensing Team Leader
abettison@solihull.gov.uk

Wards affected:
☐ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood |
☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle |
☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South |
☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege
Public/private
report:

Public

Exempt by virtue
of paragraph:

N/A

1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

To review the premises licence granted in respect of Shirley Spice.

2.

Decision(s) recommended

2.1

It is recommended that this application be considered in line with existing legislation
and guidance.

3.

Matters for Consideration

3.1

Shirley Spice is a restaurant located on the Stratford Road in Shirley, within a parade
of shops/restaurants. It serves food and drink for consumption in the restaurant, as
well as for takeaway by collection/delivery.

3.2

The premises licence, number SOL/PR/005151, was converted in 2005 from the
Licensing Act 1964 (administered by Magistrates) with no changes. Mr Nayeemul
Islam is the Premises Licence Holder and Designated Premises Supervisor. The
premises licence, detailing the hours and activities authorised and any existing
conditions, is attached at APPENDIX A.

3.3

On 11 February 2021, Richard Staveley, Trading Standards & Environment Manager

Page 5

for Solihull Council submitted an application to review the premises licence following
an incident that had taken place on 15 January. His review application is attached at
APPENDIX B.
3.4

The application was advertised in accordance with the regulations by way of statutory
notices posted on the premises, on the Council’s website and on the Council
premises. All other responsible authorities were also consulted.

3.5

There were four representations received, one from West Midlands Police, and three
(in support of the premises) from members of the public. These are attached at
APPENDIX C.

4.

What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about
them?

4.1

The steps that the Licensing Act Sub-Committee may take (if any) are as follows:
a. Modify the conditions of the premises licence (including the adding, altering or
omitting of any condition);
b. Exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence;
c. Remove the Designated Premises Supervisor;
d. Suspend the licence for a period not exceeding three months;
e. Revoke the licence.

4.2

The decision of the sub-committee must be proportionate and appropriate for the
promotion of the four licensing objectives, which are:


The prevention of crime and disorder



Public safety



The prevention of public nuisance



The protection of children from harm

5.

Reasons for recommending preferred option

5.1

The decision of the Licensing Act Sub-Committee will be in line with all appropriate
legislation and guidance.

6.

Implications and Considerations

6.1

State how the proposals in this report contribute to the priorities in the Council Plan:

Priority:

Contribution:

Page 6

Economy:
1. Revitalising our towns and local
centres.
2. UK Central (UKC) and maximising the
opportunities of HS2.
3. Increase the supply of housing,
especially affordable and social
housing.
Environment:

To promote and support responsible
businesses operating within the night-time
economy.

N/A

4. Enhance Solihull’s natural environment.
5. Improve Solihull’s air quality.
6. Reduce Solihull’s net carbon emissions.
People and Communities:
7. Take action to improve life chances in
our most disadvantaged communities.
8. Enable communities to thrive.
9. Sustainable, quality, affordable
provision for adults & children with
complex needs.
6.2

To support residents, responsible authorities
and businesses to work together, ensuring
the needs of both are effectively balanced.

Consultation and Scrutiny:

6.2.1 The review application was advertised correctly (see 3.4 above) and all other
Responsible Authorities were consulted as follows:
Solihull MBC – Local Children’s Safeguarding Partnership
Solihull MBC – Environmental Health
Solihull MBC – Licensing Authority
Solihull MBC – Planning
Solihull MBC – Public Health
West Midlands Police
West Midlands Fire Service
Home Office
6.3

Financial implications:

6.3.1 None

Page 7

6.4

Legal implications:

6.4.1 Members are reminded of the requirement to have regard to the relevant provisions of
the European Convention on Human Rights, the Human Rights Act 1998 and the
Crime & Disorder Act 1998.
6.4.2 Members should also have regard to the Statutory Guidance issued by the Secretary
of State under section 182 of the Act (dated 2018), as well as the Council’s Statement
of Licensing Policy (published January 2021).
6.5

Risk implications:

6.5.1 If the applicant (Richard Staveley), the Premises Licence Holder (Mr Islam) or any
other person that has made a valid representation is aggrieved by the decision of the
Licensing Act Sub-Committee, they may appeal to Birmingham Magistrates Court
within 21 days of being notified of the decision.
6.6

Equality implications:

6.6.1 In line with current legislation.
7.

List of appendices referred to

7.1

Appendix A – Premises licence number SOL/PR/005151

7.2

Appendix B – Review application

7.3

Appendix C – Representations received

8.

Background papers used to compile this report

8.1

Review Application

9.

List of other relevant documents

9.1

None.

Page 8

APPENDIX A

Page 9

Page 10

Page 11

Page 12

Page 13

Page 14

Page 15

APPENDIX B

Page 16

Page 17

Page 18

Page 19

Page 20

Page 21

Page 22

Page 23

Page 24

APPENDIX C
Representation from West Midlands Police
Hi Andrew,
West Midlands Police fully support the review of Shirley Spice, 393 Stratford Road that
SMBC Trading Standards have submitted.
Having viewed the Police incident logs and intelligence reports that are linked to Shirley
Spice we can report the following:
Log no: 4074 of 07/01/2021
Type: Covid-19 Breach
Location: SHIRLEY SPICE, 393 STRATFORD ROAD, SHIRLEY, SOLIHULL, B90 3BW
Log Details: Regularly serving alcohol to groups of customers waiting for takeaway food.
Gatherings of mixed households. 2/ 3 hours same people in bar area. Shirley Spice Indian
restaurant Stratford Road Shirley. Have been doing this all through lockdown. Same gathering
of regular customers.
The above log was also shared with the local authority and SMBC Licensing Team and from
reading the review papers we are aware that the premises were confirmed to be selling and
serving alcohol for consumption to customers inside the premises at a time when the country
was in a national lockdown and the consumption of food or alcohol in this instance was a
breach of Covid-19 legislation.
Whilst this review application was being completed, West Midlands Police and other
responsible authorities have also submitted review papers for the Saleem Bagh (Indian
restaurant) after it was found to be operating in a similar manner. The review of this premises
was completed on the 11th of February 2021. After the review papers were submitted it
generated public interest via various social media platforms. One of the platforms listed
below contained a comment highlighting the similarities in the actions of both premises.

Page 25

On the 4th of January 2021 the UK Government announced a third lockdown across England,
this was a result of the pandemic CoVID19 virus that was spreading through the country and
was introduced with other measures to stop the spread of the virus.

Page 26

Businesses and venues which must close: Hospitality venues such as cafes, restaurants,
pubs, bars and social clubs are to remain closed; with the exception of providing food and
non-alcoholic drinks for takeaway (until 11pm), click-and-collect and drive-through. All food
and drink (including alcohol) can continue to be provided by delivery.
The actions of the premises took in deciding to open have placed an unnecessary risk to the
health of the individuals, families and local communities, at a time where the country is
experiencing a national emergency. This is causing a public nuisance.
Public nuisance is a serious crime and combined with the national threat that Covid-19 poses
we would have expected the designated Premises Supervisor to have carried out their duties
in a responsible manner.
The severity of the incident is a matter that needs to be brought to the attention of the
Licensing Committee.
The risk of spreading infections is deemed a “public nuisance”. In the case of R v
Rimmington & Goldstein (2005) UKHL 63, it quoted the leading modern authority on public
nuisance as Attorney General v PYA Quarries Ltd (1957) 2 QB 169.
The case quotes “a person is guilty of a public nuisance (also known as a common nuisance)
who (a) does an act not warranted by law, or (b) omits to discharge a legal duty, if the effect
of the act or omission is to endanger the life, health, property, morals or comfort of the public,
or to obstruct the public in the exercise or enjoyment of the rights common to all Her
Majesty’s subjects” (Rimmington at [3]).
Public nuisance is a common law offence which carries an offence of life imprisonment. It is
WMP’s stance that a serious crime under the definition in RIPA has been fulfilled on the
above facts “serious crime” is defined by reference to s.81 of the Regulation of Investigatory
Powers Act 2000. It includes: An offence for which an adult could reasonably be expected to
be sentenced to imprisonment for a period of 3 years or more.
CoVID19 is a worldwide virus that has unfortunately seen many people die. It is an infectious
disease which is spread as a result of activities carried out by people, hence the reason for
social distancing measures that the Government has introduced.
The effects of the virus have been shown across all media outlets for many months, and so
West Midlands Police are very concerned that these premises decided to ignore the
governments social distancing guidelines putting the safety of the people and the wider
community at risk as well as their families and the wider communities they live in.

Regards
Licensing
Partnerships Team
Solihull NPU | West Midlands Police
T: 101 (ext. 891 3015/3097)
Preventing crime, protecting the public and helping those in need.
If it’s not 999, search WMP Online

Page 27

Representation from Roy Prosser
I have been using this restaurant for over 20 years, during this time i have got to know the
management and the staff to the extent that we have become friends. I believe them to be
honest trustworthy people. I have used this restaurant many times during lockdown and can
honestly say i have never been offered an alcoholic drink whilst waiting for my food.
Kind Regards,
Mr Roy Prosser

Representation from Dave Bowker
Dear Sir.
I’m writing this email as a regular customer of Shirley Spice for over 15 years. Shirley Spice
is an outstanding restaurant, The owner is top of his game he made a simple mistake as he
though he was allowed to offer a beer while you waited for your takeaway.
I understand you need to do a review of his license but please take into consideration his
record and his long standing unblemished time he has hold his licence.
Very Kind Regards
Dave Bowker

Representation from Mike Howell
Dear Sir / Madam ,
I have reason to believe you are going to withdraw the alcohol license for Shirley Spice restaurant.
I live in Northamptonshire & have travelled 50miles to this restaurant nearly every month since 1998 as it’s
such a fantastic restaurant making the travelling well worthwhile .
Since the pandemic I have continued to drive to the restaurant for a take away & during this time have never
consumed & charged for any alcohol during these unfortunate times . I’m hoping the restaurant will soon
reopen soon , it’s been rated a 5* cleanliness rating , so I don’t understand why they would jeopardise their
liquor license in any way being a serious part of enjoying a good curry .
I sincerely hope this action does not take place , as we all look forward to getting out for a good meal in the
very near future .
Regards ,
Mike Howell

Page 28

